Case 4:20-cv-01753-DMR Document 1 Filed 03/11/20 Page 1 of 43

1 ROSMAN & GERMAIN LLP

Daniel L. Germain (Bar No. 143334)

2 16311 Ventura Boulevard

Suite 1200

3 Encino, CA 91436-2152

Telephone: (818) 788-0877

4 Facsimile: (818) 788-0885

E-Mail: Germain@Lalawyer.com

5
6

Counsel for Plaintiffs and the Putative Class
[Additional Counsel Listed on Signature Page]

7
8

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

9

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

10
11

TIM DAVIS, GREGOR MIGUEL, and

CIVIL ACTION NO.:

12 AMANDA BREDLOW, individually and

on behalf of all others similarly situated,

13
14
15

Plaintiffs,
v.

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

SALESFORCE.COM, INC., BOARD OF

16 DIRECTORS OF SALESFORCE.COM,

INC., MARC BENIOFF, THE

17 INVESTMENT ADVISORY

COMMITTEE, JOSEPH ALLANSON,

18 STAN DUNLAP, and JOACHIM

WETTERMARK,

19

Defendants.

20
21
22
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1

Plaintiffs Tim Davis, Gregor Miguel, and Amanda Bredlow (“Plaintiffs”), by

2 and through their attorneys, on behalf of the Salesforce 401(k) Plan (the “Plan”),1
3 themselves and all others similarly situated, state and allege as follows:
4
5

I.
1.

INTRODUCTION

This is a class action brought pursuant to §§ 409 and 502 of the

6 Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”), 29 U.S.C. §§ 1109
7 and 1132, against the Plan’s fiduciaries, which include Salesforce.com, Inc.
8 (“Salesforce” or the “Company”), the Board of Directors of Salesforce (“Board”) and
9 its members during the Class Period, and the Investment Advisory Committee
10 (“Committee”) and its members during the Class Period for breaches of their
11 fiduciary duties.
12

2.

Defined contribution retirement plans, like the Plan, confer tax benefits

13 on participating employees to incentivize saving for retirement. As of the end of
14 2015, Americans had approximately $6.7 trillion in assets invested in defined
15 contribution plans. See INVESTMENT COMPANY INSTITUTE, Retirement Assets Total
16 $24.0

Trillion in Fourth Quarter 2015 (Mar. 24, 2016), available at

17 https://www.ici.org/research/stats/retirement/ret_15_q4;

PLAN

SPONSOR,

2015

18 Recordkeeping Survey (June 2015), available at http://www.plansponsor.com/201519 Recordkeeping-Survey/.
20

3.

In a defined contribution plan, participants’ benefits “are limited to the

21 value of their own investment accounts, which is determined by the market
22 performance of employee and employer contributions, less expenses.” Tibble v.
23 Edison Int’l, 135 S. Ct. 1823, 1826 (2015). Thus, the employer has no incentive to
24 keep costs low or to closely monitor the Plan to ensure every investment remains
25
26
1
The Plan is a legal entity that can sue and be sued. ERISA § 502(d)(1), 29 U.S.C. § 1132(d)(1).
27 However, in a breach of fiduciary duty action such as this, the Plan is not a party. Rather, pursuant
to ERISA § 409, and the law interpreting it, the relief requested in this action is for the benefit of
28 the Plan and its participants.
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1 prudent, because all risks related to high fees and poorly-performing investments are
2 borne by the participants.
3

4.

To safeguard Plan participants and beneficiaries, ERISA imposes strict

4 fiduciary duties of loyalty and prudence upon employers and other plan fiduciaries.
5 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1). These twin fiduciary duties are “the highest known to the
6 law.” Tibble v. Edison Int’l, 843 F.3d 1187, 1197 (9th Cir. Dec. 30, 2016) (en banc).
7 Fiduciaries must act “solely in the interest of the participants and beneficiaries,” 29
8 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(A), with the “care, skill, prudence, and diligence” that would be
9 expected in managing a plan of similar scope. 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(B).
10

5.

The Plan had over a billion dollars in assets under management in 2016,

11 $1.8 billion in assets as of the end of 2017, and over $2 billion in assets at the end of
12 2018 that were/are entrusted to the care of the Plan’s fiduciaries. The Plan’s assets
13 under management qualifies it as a large plan in the defined contribution plan
14 marketplace, and among the largest plans in the United States. As a large plan, the
15 Plan had substantial bargaining power regarding the fees and expenses that were
16 charged against participants’ investments. Defendants, however, did not try to reduce
17 the Plan’s expenses or exercise appropriate judgment to scrutinize each investment
18 option that was offered in the Plan to ensure it was prudent.
19

6.

Plaintiffs allege that during the putative Class Period (March 11, 2014

20 through the date of judgment) Defendants, as “fiduciaries” of the Plan, as that term is
21 defined under ERISA § 3(21)(A), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(21)(A), breached the duties they
22 owed to the Plan, to Plaintiffs, and to the other participants of the Plan by, inter alia,
23 (1) failing to objectively and adequately review the Plan’s investment portfolio with
24 due care to ensure that each investment option was prudent, in terms of cost; and (2)
25 maintaining certain funds in the Plan despite the availability of identical or similar
26 investment options with lower costs and/or better performance histories.
27

7.

To make matters worse, Defendants failed to utilize the lowest cost share

28 class for many of the mutual funds within the Plan, and failed to consider collective
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1 trusts, commingled accounts, or separate accounts as alternatives to the mutual funds
2 in the Plan, despite their lower fees.
3

8.

It appears that in 2019, five years into the Class Period, wholesale

4 changes were made to the Plan wherein certain Plan investment options, some of
5 which are the subject of this lawsuit, were converted to lower class shares.
6

9.

These changes were far too little and too late as the damages suffered by

7 Plan participants to that point had already been baked in. There is no reason to not
8 have implemented these changes by the start of the Class Period when the majority of
9 lower-class shares were available. Moreover, these changes may not have cured the
10 Company’s fiduciary breaches because the circumstances under which changes were
11 made have not been disclosed to Plaintiffs.
12

10.

Defendants’ mismanagement of the Plan, to the detriment of participants

13 and beneficiaries, constitutes a breach of the fiduciary duties of prudence and loyalty,
14 in violation of 29 U.S.C. § 1104.

Their actions were contrary to actions of a

15 reasonable fiduciary and cost the Plan and its participants millions of dollars.
16

11.

Based on this conduct, Plaintiffs assert claims against Defendants for

17 breach of the fiduciary duties of loyalty and prudence (Count One) and failure to
18 monitor fiduciaries (Count Two).
19
20

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE
12.

This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28

21 U.S.C. § 1331 because it is a civil action arising under the laws of the United States,
22 and pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 1332(e)(1), which provides for federal jurisdiction of
23 actions brought under Title I of ERISA, 29 U.S.C. § 1001, et seq.
24

13.

This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because they

25 transact business in this District, reside in this District, and/or have significant
26 contacts with this District, and because ERISA provides for nationwide service of
27 process.
28
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1

14.

Venue is proper in this District pursuant to ERISA § 502(e)(2), 29

2 U.S.C. § 1132(e)(2), because some or all of the violations of ERISA occurred in this
3 District and Defendants reside and may be found in this District.

Venue is also

4 proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because Defendants do business
5 in this District and a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the
6 claims asserted herein occurred within this District.
7
8
9

III.

PARTIES

Plaintiffs
15.

Plaintiff Tim Davis (“Davis”) resides in Tillamook, Oregon. During his

10 employment, Plaintiff Davis participated in the Plan investing in the options offered
11 by the Plan and which are the subject of this lawsuit.
12

16.

Plaintiff Gregor Miguel (“Miguel”) resides in Oakland, California.

13 During his employment, Plaintiff Miguel participated in the Plan investing in the
14 options offered by the Plan and which are the subject of this lawsuit.
15

17.

Plaintiff Amanda Bredlow (“Bredlow”) resides in Kirkland, Washington.

16 During her employment, Plaintiff Bredlow participated in the Plan investing in the
17 options offered by the Plan and which are the subject of this lawsuit.
18

18.

Each Plaintiff has standing to bring this action on behalf of the Plan

19 because each of them participated in the Plan and were injured by Defendants’
20 unlawful conduct.

Plaintiffs are entitled to receive benefits in the amount of the

21 difference between the value of their accounts currently, or as of the time their
22 accounts were distributed, and what their accounts are or would have been worth, but
23 for Defendants’ breaches of fiduciary duty as described herein.
24

19.

Plaintiffs did not have knowledge of all material facts (including, among

25 other things, the investment alternatives that are comparable to the investments
26 offered within the Plan, comparisons of the costs and investment performance of Plan
27 investments versus available alternatives within similarly-sized plans, total cost
28 comparisons to similarly-sized plans, information regarding other available share
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